# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## RICHARD MARSHALL

APPEL COPY

V.

NO. 2007-CA-00148

BURGER KING, SYDRAN, THE WORLEY COMPANIES AND JOHN DOES APPELLEE

NOV 0 6 2007
OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPPLEME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JOY R JACKSON, I P.O. Box 945 115 Chicago St. Tallulah, LA 71284 Telephone: 318-574-5695

**Counsel for Appellant** 

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RICHARD MARSHALL

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2007-CA-00148

BURGER KING, SYDRAN, THE WORLEY COMPANIES AND JOHN DOES **APPELLEE** 

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The suit in this case was filed by the Appellant, Richard Marshall on April 1, 2005, based on a slip and fall at Burger King Restaurant located at Halls Ferry Road, Vicksburg, Mississippi. The Notice of Discovery was filed on June 6, 2005. The scheduling order was signed on October 3, 2005, by the circuit judge and was filed on October 5, 2005. A motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute was filed by Appellee, Burger King on October 7, 2005. A hearing was held on February 3, 2006, Burger King's motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute was denied and Marshall was given fifteen (15) days to comply with the court order to answer discovery. Marshall furnished a medical release to Burger King within the time frame given by the court. Burger King filed a motion to dismiss based on the interrogatories not being signed and sworn by Marshall on October 27, 2006. A hearing was held on this motion on November 8, 2006. Marshall's case was dismissed on November 15, 2006, without prejudice. Marshall's

motion to reinstate the case was filed on December 12, 2006. The hearing was initially set for December 19, 2006, and the court continued the hearing to January 12, 2007. At this hearing the court denied the motion to reinstate the case.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The suit in this case was filed by the Appellant, Richard Marshall on April 1, 2005. The Notice of Discovery was filed on June 6, 2005. The scheduling order was signed on October 3, 2005, by the circuit judge and was filed on October 5, 2005. A motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute was filed by the Appellant, Burger King on October 7, 2005. A hearing was held on February 3, 2006, Burger King's motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute was denied and Marshall was given fifteen (15) days to comply with the court order. Marshall furnished medical bills, a medical report and, through mistake, interrogatories that were not sworn to Burger King at the hearing to dismiss. T. 4. Marshall furnished an unrestricted medical release to Burger King within the time frame given by the court and Burger King confirmed that a medical release signed by Marshall was received during the court's ordered time frame. T. 9. Burger King used this medical release to obtain Marshall's medical records. After obtaining the medical records Burger King asked for depositions and Marshall agreed. Depositions were initially set for May 2006, Burger King requested a continuance and Marshall agreed, T. 12. The Court set a third setting for trial on November 13, 2006. Burger King sent dates to Marshall for depositions of Marshall's witnesses that were during and after the week beginning November 13, 2006. Burger King verbally agreed to a continuance due to the fact that both parties agreed to set depositions after November 13, 2006, which was the third setting for a trial on the merits. T.12. Marshall agreed to get the lay witnesses to the depositions without Burger King needing to issue subpoenas. During the process of scheduling depositions for December 2006, Burger King filed a motion to dismiss, which was directly against Burger King's verbal agreement with Marshall to continue the third

trial setting scheduled for November 13, 2006. T. 13. The court heard this motion on November 8, 2006, and dismissed the case. Marshall's case was dismissed on November 15, 2006, without prejudice. T.17. Marshall's motion to reinstate the case was filed on December 12, 2006. The hearing was initially set for December 19, 2006, and the court continued the hearing to January 12, 2007. Marshall scheduled and was prepared to have the hearing on his motion during the same term of court as Burger King's motion to dismiss; however, due to the Court's continuance the hearing was not heard during said term of court. T. 26, 27. During this hearing Burger King admitted it had all of the records from the doctor's listed in Marshall's list of experts. T. 29. During this hearing the court denied the motion to reinstate the case. Marshall filed this appeal.

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE I. WHETHER THE SANCTION OF DISMISSAL IS TOO HARSH WHEN A PARTY MISTAKENLY DOES NOT SUBMIT SWORN INTERROGATORIES PURSUANT TO A COURT ORDER.

ISSUE II. WHETHER A DISMISSAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE WOULD REQUIRE A JUDGE TO REINSTATE A CASE WHEN THERE IS NOT ANY OTHER OPTION BY THE PLAINTIFF TO REINSTITUTE THE CASE; THEREFORE, RESULTING IN A DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

# I. WHETHER THE SANCTION OF DISMISSAL IS TOO HARSH WHEN A PARTY MISTAKENLY DOES NOT SUBMIT SIGNED INTERROGATORIES PURSUANT TO A COURT ORDER.

Marshall's case was dismissed by the Court due to Marshall not providing sworn responses to Burger King's Interrogatories. The case was involuntarily dismissed without prejudice under violation of the rules of discovery pursuant to Rule 41, Miss.R.Civ.P.

Marshall provided an unrestricted medical release to Burger King which Burger King used to obtain numerous medical records including, but not limited to, all of the medical records from each of the experts listed by Marshall in its list of experts.

Burger King's counsel stated, "The Plaintiff did provide us with executed authorizations which we gave and sent to a lot of medical providers in Louisiana." T. 9.

Burger King's counsel further stated, "There were three doctors listed. We did get those records from them..." T. 29.

Marshall never intended to claim any injuries that were not covered by the experts listed in Marshall's list of experts.

Counsel for Marshall stated, "So he has admitted he has the medical records from every doctor I listed and those are the only doctors we would intend to use." T. 29.

The Court chose to ignore the fact that Burger King's counsel stated in the motion to dismiss for failure to submit sworn interrogatories that he <u>did not</u> have all of the medical records. However, at the hearing on the motion to reinstate he stated <u>he did</u> have

all of the medical records from the experts listed, which would clearly cover the injuries claimed by Marshall.

Burger King never claimed that Marshall was intentionally attempting to deceive or to mislead Burger King in any way. Burger King never stated that it was prejudiced in its preparation for trial. Burger King was not preparing for trial on November 13, 2006, due to the fact it had given Marshall deposition dates that were to occur during and after the week of November 13, 2006, which was the third setting for a trial on the merits. Burger King also verbally agreed to a joint continuance.

Marshall's counsel stated "they set depositions in May. They canceled them.

They asked me to – would I postpone them. I agreed to do that. I said that was fine.

Then we got into setting up depositions again. I was sent some dates. We verbally agreed that we could do a joint motion to continue; it would be your word on whether or not we could get it, but we would have a better chance if we jointly did that. I was sent dates that occurred during next week and after next week, which would – even though it was verbal, I was thinking we had both agreed that we would do a joint motion to continue. I don't understand how you send me deposition dates on the week of a third setting of the trial and after that and then say you're not going to sign a joint motion to continue." T. 12.

Burger King never contradicted these facts. Marshall clearly was cooperating fully with discovery and Burger King and the court were well aware of this fact.

Marshall did not change any information in the interrogatories; therefore, there would be no prejudice. Burger King clearly did not intend to proceed to trial on November 13, 2006.

"A trial court's dismissal of a cause of action is reviewed for any abuse of discretion. When this Court reviews a decision that is within the trial court's discretion, it first asks if the court below applied the correct legal standard. If no error exists there, then we will uphold the decision unless we have a definite and firm conviction that the court below committed a clear error of judgment in the conclusion it reached upon weighing of relevant factors. The power to dismiss is inherent in any court of law or equity, being a means necessary to orderly expedition of justice and the court's control of its own docket. The exercise of that power should be limited to the most extreme circumstances." Smith v. Tougaloo College, 805 So. 2d 633, 640 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)

"The following factors are the basis for evaluating the appropriateness of dismissal as a sanction for discovery violations:

First, dismissal is authorized only when the failure to comply with the court's order results from willfulness or bad faith, and not from the inability to comply.

Dismissal is proper only in a situation where the deterrent value of Rule 37 cannot be substantially achieved by the use of less drastic sanctions. Another consideration is whether the other party's preparation for trial was substantially prejudiced. Finally, dismissal may be inappropriate when neglect is plainly attributable to an attorney rather than a blameless client, or when a party's simple negligence is grounded in confusion or sincere misunderstanding of the court's orders." Smith at 640 citing Wood v. Biloxi Pub. Sch. Dist., 757 So. 2d 190, 192 (Miss. 2000); Tinnon v. Martin, 716 So. 2d 604, 611 (Miss. 1998); and Gilbert v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 749 So. 2d 361, 364 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); Pierce v. Heritage Properties, Inc., 688 So. 2d 1385, 1389 (Miss. 1997).

Marshall's counsel stated, "It was nothing – no intent on my part or my client's part not to give them information...The information would not change. I think they waived any objection when they proceeded to go along with depositions. The subpoena duces tecum for the medical records, we haven't hidden anything from them, and I gave them medical billing." T. 12.

A medical release which gave access to all of Burger King's medical records in the case and even medical information that was not related to the case definitively shows Marshall was not trying to mislead Burger King. Burger King waived any right to ask for sanctions when they were clearly participating in discovery with Marshall and could have deposed Marshall, Marshall's lay and expert witnesses in May 2006, but Burger King postponed the depositions. Therefore, Burger King cannot claim that Marshall should be sanctioned for an oversight.

Burger King knew that dismissal was not proper in that defense counsel stated, "I believe the case law – of course, it's up to the Court as far as sanctions go. Dismissal is one of them, but there are other options." T. 17. Burger King mentioned other options for sanctions because Burger King knew that Marshall was not attempting to deceive or mislead as to his claims in the suit.

The Court's dismissal would operate the same as a dismissal with prejudice due to the fact that the statute of limitations had run pertaining to an original filing of the petition in the case in question. The court abused its discretion as again the Court never stated Marshall was intentionally and willfully violating its order because the facts clearly showed Marshall was very cooperative in discovery. This is because the Court was aware that Marshall was not engaging in improper discovery conduct.

Burger King's counsel stated, "...although the order states it was without prejudice, it was dismissed after the statute of limitations had run. Once that happens it becomes a final order of dismissal. Under 60(b)...and the case law cited even under 41(b) states that the Court should look at lesser sanctions." T. 22.

The court never stated that it believed that Marshall was intentionally and willfully violating its order.

"The Fifth Circuit has applied several considerations to determine whether a district court has abused its discretion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(C) by dismissing with prejudice: First, dismissal is authorized only when the failure to comply with the court's order results from willfulness or bad faith, and not from the inability to comply. Dismissal is proper only in situation where the deterrent value of Rule 37 cannot be substantially achieved by the use of less drastic sanctions. Another consideration is whether the other party's preparation for trial was substantially prejudiced. Finally, dismissal may be inappropriate when neglect is plainly attributable to an attorney rather than a blameless client, or when a party's simple negligence is grounded in confusion or sincere misunderstanding of the court's orders." Pierce v. Heritage Props., 688 So. 2d 1385, 1389 (Miss. 1997) citing Batson v. Neal Spelce Associates, 765 F.2d 511, 514 (5th Cir. 1985) (citations omitted).

Marshall's counsel stated, "...it was an oversight that the – not getting Mr. Marshall to sign..." T. 10.

Taylor v. GMC, 717 So. 2d 747 (Miss. 1998), states that dismissed cases under Rule 41, Miss.R.Civ.P, may be reinstituted except in extreme situations. Specifically, "Unless otherwise specifically ordered by the court, an involuntary dismissal under Rule

41(b) ordinarily operates as an adjudication upon the merits and is with prejudice...However, past Mississippi Practice has tempered this harsh result by allowing dismissed cases to be reinstituted, except in extreme circumstances." <u>Taylor</u> at 748 citing <u>Ross v. Milner</u>, 12 So. 2d 917, 918 (Miss. 1943).

In the present case Marshall's case was dismissed without prejudice; therefore, case law would provide that the court should reinstate the case. Marshall has sworn responses to Burger King's Interrogatories and did offer them at the hearing on this matter.

Rule 60(b) Miss.R.Civ.P., would not apply to Marshall's case under the portion of the law cited by Burger King due to the fact the court dismissed Marshall's case without prejudice, which would allow for the reinstatement of the case by the court. However, Rule 60(b) allows that a case may be reinstated within a reasonable time, but not longer than six (6) months after judgment.

"The standard of review when a trial court institutes sanctions for discovery abuses is "whether the trial court abused its discretion in its decision." The Court will affirm unless there is a "'definite and firm conviction that the court below committed a clear error of judgment in the conclusion it reached upon weighing of relevant factors." Id. at 1136 and cases cited therein...The purpose of the rules of discovery is to prevent trial by ambush or surprise." Kinard v. Morgan, 679 So. 2d 623, 625, 626 (Miss. 1996) citing Cooper v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 568 So. 2d 687, 692 (Miss. 1990) (quoting Brown v. Arlen Management Corp., 663 F.2d 575, 580 (C.A. Tex. 1981)); and Terrain Enterprises, Inc. v. Mockbee, 654 So. 2d 1122, 1133 (Miss. 1995).

Burger King's argument under Rule 59(e), Miss.R.Civ.P., is not applicable to the

present case as Marshall did not ask the court to alter or amend the judgment. The judgment was that Marshall's case be dismissed as an involuntary dismissal under Rule 41; however, the dismissal was without prejudice which would allow Marshall's case to be reinstated by the court.

Burger King's arguments would apply to judgments where a case was dismissed with prejudice. Clearly, the court was aware that reinstatement would be proper when it signed a judgment dismissing without prejudice.

To not reinstate Marshall's case would be against the interests of justice, and the penalty was too harsh for Marshall's unintentional mistake to submit sworn answers to Burger King's Interrogatories. Burger King waited approximately nine (9) months before filing a motion to dismiss due to lack of sworn responses to Burger King's Interrogatories. Marshall did provide answers to the Interrogatories. Burger King set up depositions and cancelled the same depositions. Marshall cooperated with Burger King and was attempting to set up Burger King's requested depositions in Louisiana when Burger King, after verbally agreeing to a continuance, filed a Motion to Dismiss without any warning to Marshall.

Professional courtesies should be extended by both sides when Marshall was consistently extending professional courtesies to Burger King.

In referencing Rule 41, Miss.R.Civ.P., the Court in Morrison v. Guaranty

Mortgage & Trust Co., 199 So. 110, 115 (Miss 1941) stated, "The statute is intended to
promote the administration of justice and to reduce expense. It is not for the purpose of
hindering or defeating the administration of justice."

The administration of justice was not served by the District Court dismissing

Marshall's case which in effect was a dismissal with prejudice because there is no other

option to reinstate the case.

"There was no claim of prejudice or injury to the Defendant by reason of the delay, if there was any delay (the issues were not completely joined until a few days before the filing of the answers). There was no attempt to force the Appellant to trial without the information requested. The motion to dismiss gave no reason for dismissal except the alleged delay in answering. Counsel had been agreeing with each other as to matters of procedure. Counsel for the Appellant had waived his right to complain of delays by the Appellee." Peoples Bank v. D'Lo Royalties, Inc., 206 So 2d 836, 837 (Miss. 1968)

"Dismissal is drastic punishment and should not be invoked except where the conduct of the party has been so deliberately careless as to call for drastic action. In view of the course of conduct between the attorneys, the fact that there is no evidence of such deliberate carelessness as to require drastic action, the fact that there is no evidence of prejudice or harm done Appellee, and the fact that justice could have been administered on the facts with no long delay compel us to hold that there was an abuse of discretion when the case was dismissed with prejudice. We reverse and remand this case so that a trial on the facts may be had." Peoples Bank, at 837 citing Williams v.

Whitfield, 163 So.2d 688 (Miss. 1964).

Marshall's case was dismissed without prejudice; therefore, the law would dictate that Marshall's case be reinstated. Also, Marshall was cooperating with Burger King in discovery. Burger King asked for depositions and Marshall agreed to a postponement

when Burger King requested this. Burger King wanted to reset depositions during the time of the dismissal and during the third trial setting. Based on these actions Burger King waived its right to request sanctions. Burger King also verbally agreed to a continuance.

"This Court reviews the granting of sanctions for abuse of discretion, including those sanction rulings which result in the entry of default judgment. Generally, in the context of Rule 37 sanctions, a district court abuses its discretion when it makes a mistake of fact or law. However, where a district court awards default judgment as a discovery sanction, two criteria must be met. (... the criteria to be used when reviewing a district court's dismissal of a claim as a Rule 37 sanction). First, the penalized party's discovery violation must be willful. Also, the drastic measure is only to be employed where a lesser sanction would not substantially achieve the desired deterrent effect. The reviewing court may also consider whether the discovery violation prejudiced the opposing party's preparation for trial, and whether the client was blameless in the violation. Here, Claimants-Appellants do not dispute the willfulness of their violation of the court's order, nor do they explicitly argue that a lesser sanction could have manufactured the appropriate level of deterrence." United States v. 49,000 Currency, 330 F.3d 371, 376 (5th Cir. 2003) citing Smith v. Smith, 145 F.3d 335, 344 (5th Cir. 1998); Tollett v. City of Kemah, 285 F.3d 357 (5th Cir. 2002); and Batson v. Neal Spelce Associates, Inc., 765 F.2d 511, 514 (5th Cir. 1985) (citing National Hockey League v. Metro Hockey Club, Inc., 427 U.S. 639, 640, 49 L. Ed. 2d 747, 96 S. Ct. 2778 (1976); Jones v. Louisiana State Bar Association, 602 F.2d 94, 96 (5th Cir. 1979) (per curiam); and Marshall v. Segona, 621 F.2d 763, 768 (5th Cir. 1980)).

There was no prejudice to Burger King at trial as Burger King verbally agreed to a joint continuance due to its wanting to reset depositions. Burger King and the court never accused Marshall of willful discovery violations. The fact that the interrogatories were not sworn was obviously an oversight by Marshall's Counsel.

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