I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NO. 2007-TS-00148

RICHARD MARSHALL

APPELLANT

VS.

BURGER KING, SYDRAN and THE WORLEY COMPANIES

APPELLEES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. Hon. Frank G. Vollor, Trial Judge
- 2. Richard Marshall, Plaintiff/Appellant
- 3. Joy R. Jackson, Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellant

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

An involuntary dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b) is a harsh sanction, and only appropriate when there exists a "clear record of delay or contumacious conduct and lesser sanctions would not serve the interests of justice." *Wallace v. Jones*, 572 So.2d 371, 376 (Miss.1990) (citations omitted). In the present matter, there exists a clear record of delay with the plaintiff failing to provide any responses to discovery for seven (7) months. Plaintiff finally delivered the purported responses when faced with a motion to dismiss. The purported responses were wholly deficient, and the trial court provided plaintiff a lesser sanction of fourteen (14) days to rectify the deficient responses. Nine (9) more months passed without compliance, and the case was dismissed.

Given the record of delay and the fact that lesser sanctions were levied in response to a prior motion to dismiss, it was not manifest error to deny plaintiff's motion to reinstate the case.

VII. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

ISSUE: Whether dismissal without prejudice as sanction for violation of Court's scheduling order and order compelling discovery was an abuse of discretion.

Defendant's motion to dismiss was based upon the plaintiff's failure to comply with two separate orders issued by the trial court – the scheduling order and the order compelling discovery. (R.72-90). The Court chose to grant defendant's motion on the basis that plaintiff failed to comply with the February 9, 2006 order which compelled plaintiff to provide responses to discovery. (R.98).

It is the plaintiff's claim that his only failure was failing to provide sworn responses. However, an examination of the record reveals that plaintiff never noticed any responses whatsoever. Plaintiff did provide a document which purported to be responses to discovery on February 6, 2006 at the hearing on defendant's first motion. (T.3) Plaintiff hinges his argument on the fact that this document was provided. However, the record does not contain these purported responses or any notice that these responses were served upon the defendant. "This Court is limited to consideration of the facts in the record, while reliance on facts only disclosed in the briefs is prohibited." *Greater Canton Ford Mercury, Inc. v. Clark*, 948 So.2d 417, 423 (Miss.2007). What is clear is that the Court found the responses incomplete given the trial court's order. (T.4 & 28). Finding these responses incomplete, the trial court provided the plaintiff with fourteen (14) additional days to provide complete responses. (R.44). Plaintiff never provided another document or supplement to these documents even when faced with a defendant's motion to dismiss.

:

4.

ι.

i

Rule 37 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure addresses the imposition of sanctions for failure of a party to cooperate in discovery, and Rule 37(b) addresses a party's failure to comply with the court's order. Rule 37(b) states as follows, in pertinent part: (b) Failure to Comply with Court Order.

(1) Sanctions by the Court. If a deponent fails to be sworn or to answer a question after being directed to do so by the court, the failure may be considered a contempt of court.

(2) Sanctions by Court in Which Action is Pending. If a party....fails to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, including an order made under subsection (a) of this rule, the court in which the action is pending may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and among others the following:

(A) an order that the matters regarding which the order was made or any other designated facts shall be taken to be established for the purposes of the action in accordance with the claim of the party obtaining the order;

(B) an order refusing to allow the disobedient party to support or oppose designated claims or defenses, or prohibiting him from introducing designated claims or defenses, or prohibiting him from introducing designated matters in evidence;

(C) an order striking out pleadings or parts thereof, or staying further proceedings until the order is obeyed, or dismissing the action or proceeding or any part thereof, or rendering a judgment by default against the disobedient party.

M.R.C.P. 37(b) (2006). In determining whether the trial court abused its discretion, there are several considerations which must be addressed. First, dismissal is authorized only when the failure to comply with the court's order is a product of willfulness or bad faith, and not from the inability to comply. *Hapgood v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center*, 540 So.2d 630, 634 (Miss.1989) (citations omitted). Next, the dismissal of a cause of action is proper only in situations where the deterrent value of the rule cannot be substantially achieved through the use of lesser sanctions. *Id.* Also, the court must consider whether the opposing party's preparation for trial was substantially prejudiced by the failure to comply. *Id.* A final consideration is whether the neglect was "plainly attributable" to the attorney rather than the client, or when a party's failure is a product of "confusion or sincere misunderstanding" of the order. *Id.*

A. Inability to comply.

Plaintiff's counsel avers that failing to properly respond to discovery as ordered by the trial court was "oversight" on her part and no fault of the plaintiff. In responding to the motion to

dismiss, counsel stated otherwise. At one point, counsel states that the failure to abide by the order was "due to [Marshall] being hard to catch up with." (T.10). Within that same argument, plaintiff's counsel indicates that "[m]y client could sign the interrogatories." (T.12). These statements lead to only two conclusions – either plaintiff is to blame due to his unavailability or plaintiff's counsel failed to provide them in bad faith. Neither scenario provides this Court with reasoning to rule that plaintiff was unable to comply. If plaintiff was truly unable to comply, a motion for extension of time would have been the course of action, yet the record is replete of any attempts on the part of the plaintiff to gain such an extension of time to comply.

However, such is only half of the story.

ì

i.

Plaintiff contends that he provided the defendant with an unlimited medical release which was used to "obtain numerous medical records including, but not limited to, all of the medical records from each of the experts listed by Marshall in its list of experts." Further, plaintiff admits that she received medical information which was not in her possession from defense counsel. (T.11). What plaintiff fails to realize, and the defendant clearly argued, that defendant is entitled to know exactly which medical records were being claimed as a part of the cause of action. (T.28-29). Plaintiff's counsel avers that the defendant was fully informed, yet nothing could be farther from the truth unless she expects the defendant to blindly guess what medicals were being claimed and what medicals were not.

Plaintiff, in his brief, admits this in stating, "A medical release which gave access to all of Burger King's [sic]² medical records in the case and even medical information that was not related

²Defendant assumes that plaintiff is referencing his medical records rather than "Burger King's medical records".

to the case...." This is the crux of the argument. Plaintiff simply relied upon a medical release which garnered some medicals pursuant to subpoena, yet others went unanswered. At some point the onus falls upon the plaintiff to fully comply with the trial court's order and provide the defendant with medicals and/or sufficient discovery responses detailing what would be claimed. That was the purpose of the order compelling discovery, and plaintiff failed to comply.

It is the plaintiff's duty to sufficiently respond to discovery. A plaintiff cannot rely on the defendant to collect the necessary information through alternate means. A party is under the duty pursuant to the rules governing discovery to "seasonably" amend any and all prior response if information is obtained which renders the initial response inadequate. *West v. Sanders Clinic for Women, P.A.*, 661 So.2d 714 (Miss. 1995); *See also*, Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 26(f)(2). The term "seasonably" does not mean several months later, but rather immediately. *Id.* Complete responses to properly made discovery requests are required; it is not enough to state that the requesting party has other available avenues in gathering the necessary information. *Smith v. Tougaloo College*, 805 So.2d 633 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002); *See also*, Miss. R. Civ. P. 34.

Without proper supplementation, the defense would be completely blind as to the claims to be made at trial. Plaintiff offers no explanation as to why proper supplementation was not submitted. Based upon the foregoing proof contained within the record, dismissal was proper.

B. Lesser sanctions.

ı.

ι.

ŧ

i

The trial court considered lesser sanctions in this matter when faced with the first motion to dismiss. Instead of dismissing the case for failure to prosecute, the trial court converted the motion into a motion to compel and provided the plaintiff with an additional fourteen (14) days to respond. (R.44). These sanctions were imposed on February 8, 2006. Between that date and November 14,

2006 (a total of nine months), the plaintiff failed in any manner to comply with the court's order.

Plaintiff received his lesser sanction, yet failed to take advantage of the trial court's decision. Plaintiff avers that "Burger King knew that dismissal was not proper..." This unsupported statement is simply untrue. Given the leniency of the court on prior occasions, and plaintiff's continued failure to adhere to the order of the court, defendant sought a dismissal of the case. (T.16). Dismissal was a proper consideration pursuant to Rule 37(b), and a proper sanction given plaintiff's conduct or lack thereof.

C. Prejudice to opposing party.

ţ

÷

.

÷ .

ι.

i.

Ē.

ł

It is important to note that defendant's motion to dismiss was heard one (1) week prior to trial, and at that time, plaintiff remained noncompliant with the trial court's order. "[L]itigants have an obligation to timely comply with the orders of the trial courts. *Salts*, 872 So.2d at 674. "Our trial judges also have a right to expect compliance with their orders, and when parties and/or attorneys fail to adhere to the provisions of these orders, they should be prepared to do so at their own peril." *Bowie v. Monfort Jones Memorial Hospital*, 861 So.2d 1037, 1042 (Miss.2003) (citations omitted). While the end result may seem harsh, litigants and their attorneys must understand that they have an obligation and duty to timely comply with the orders of trial courts. *Id*.

Plaintiff contends on numerous occasions that the defendant was not prejudiced by his failure to comply with a court order. Such a statement is completely unsupported given the fact that trial was one week away, and plaintiff had failed to respond to discovery as ordered by the trial court. Plaintiff spews unsupported facts regarding conversations with defense counsel, yet nothing in the record supports his contentions.

Counsel for the parties were exchanging phone messages, and at one point, discussed

deposition dates for the plaintiff and witnesses under the belief that the trial was not going to be heard as a third setting. No depositions were noticed. Once the third setting became primary (one month prior to the trial date), it became painfully obvious that the defense was completely unable to prepare for trial given plaintiff's failure to comply with the court order. There was never a verbal agreement to continue the case, yet it was offered by the plaintiff. Defense counsel conferred with his client who rejected the proposal, and plaintiff's counsel was notified of the same.

÷

È

If plaintiff believed that a continuance should be considered as an alternative, then plaintiff's counsel should have offered it to the court. By refraining from the request, plaintiff waived such a right, and this Court has often enforced waivers when a party fails to request a continuance. *Holladay v. Holladay*, 776 So.2d 662, 671 (Miss.2000). Certainly the court is not obliged to make the request for the plaintiff, and the failure to request such waives consideration of the same.

One could not expect a defendant to try a matter within one week when even the basic allegations of injuries and medical expenses claimed as a result of the injuries are unknown. Plaintiff never provided a proper response informing the defendant as to what injuries were claimed as a result of the alleged fall, and what medical treatment was undertaken to care for those injuries. Should the case have been tried, it would be tantamount to trial by ambush. The avoidance of trial by ambush is the sole purpose for discovery.

This Court has developed strict discovery rules in order to avoid trial by ambush and to insure each party has a reasonable time to prepare for trial. It is committed to the discovery rules because they promote fair trials. Once an opponent requests discoverable material, an attorney has a duty to comply with the request regardless of the advantage a surprise may bring.

Haggerty v. Foster, 838 So.2d 948, 959 (Miss.2002) (citing Harris v. General Host Corp., 503 So.2d 795, 797 (Miss.1986)); Tolbert v. State, 441 So.2d 1374, 1375 (Miss.1983). It is disingenuous for

plaintiff to claim that the defendant would not suffer prejudice when he had failed to comply with the court's order the week prior to trial.

The incident which forms the basis of plaintiff's complaint is alleged to have occurred on April 2, 2002. Plaintiff delayed filing of the complaint until April 1, 2005. Defendant answered and propounded discovery requests to the plaintiff on or about June 7, 2005. The defendant issued correspondence on two separate occasions – August 9, 2005 and August 26, 2005 – seeking responses to discovery. (R.32-33). There was no response. It was not until February 3, 2006 (seven months later) when faced with a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute that plaintiff provided purported responses which the trial court found to be insufficient. Given these incomplete responses, plaintiff's counsel was provided the lesser sanction of fourteen (14) days to rectify the deficiencies. Nine (9) months passed without compliance even when faced with dismissal one (1) week prior to trial.

The defendant realizes that the sanction of dismissal for noncompliance of a court order is "appropriate only where there is a clear record of delay or contumacious conduct" on the part of a party. *Wallace*, 572 So.2d.at 376. At the time of the dismissal, the alleged occurrence was over four (4) years old, and suit was pending for over one (1) year without proper responses being propounded. Based upon the capsule of facts, a clear record of delay exists. Combine this with the lesser sanctions provided by the court, it is clear that dismissal was a proper sanction pursuant to Rule 37(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

ISSUE II: Whether the trial court's denial of plaintiff's motion to reinstate was manifest error.

Plaintiff seems to discuss this aspect of appeal throughout the body of arguing the first issue by citing *Taylor v. General Motors Corp.*, 717 So.2d 747 (Miss.1998), for the proposition that the court's sanction of dismissal was too harsh. *Taylor* involved a cause of action against an automobile manufacturer and other defendants arising out of a motor vehicle accident. *Id.* The plaintiff was represented by out-of-state counsel who failed to comply with Rule 46 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure in providing an affidavit as required. *Id.* In considering the dismissal, this Court reviewed the facts of the case and applicable law and affirmed the dismissal. *Id.*

Rule 41(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in pertinent part:

(b) Involuntary Dismissal: Effect Thereof. For failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him....Unless the court in its order for dismissal otherwise specifies, a dismissal under this subdivision and any other dismissal not provided for in this rule, other than a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction, for improper venue, or for failure to join a party under Rule 19, operates as an adjudication upon the merits.

M.R.C.P. 41(b) (2006). When reviewing a trial court's involuntary dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b), this Court may not reverse unless it finds that the trial court was manifestly wrong. *Walters v. Patterson*, 531 So.2d 581, 583 (Miss.1988).

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